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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MICHAEL QUEEN,
Plaintiff,
Civil Action No. (BAH) 11-0871
V.
Judge Beryl A. Howell
ED SCHULTZ
Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The partiesn this lawsuitfirst metin a hallwayat an NBCtelevision studian January
2008,whenthe plaintiff, Michael Queenapproachedtd Schultz the defendantSeeMay 13,
2015 Tr.at 13 ECF No. 169Testimony of Michael Queen¥rom all outward appearances, the
plaintiff seemed to be a “nice guy,” yet his demeanor‘aggressive’and hisclothing “Army
fatigues.” SeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 65, ECF No. 18Bestimony of Ed Schultz)The
plaintiff wasafan of apopularnationdly syndicatedradio program; The Ed SchultRadio
Show,” and seized the opportunity to speak with its hadter exchanging greetings, the
plaintiff and defendarthad a brief, five to ten minute conversationwhich the plaintiff praised
the defendat's radio show antbld the defendarityou’ve got tobe on T\” Id. at 65-66
(Testimony of Ed SchultzkeealsoMay 13, 2015 Trat 13,108-11 (Testimony ofMichael
Queen). The defendant responded, “I agnek,5ince he had bedrying seriouslyfor nearly
two yearsto host anationaltelevision programSeeMay 14, 2015AM Tr. at 94 ECF No. 188
(Testimony of Paul Woodhuyll Without prompting, the plaintiff asketle defendantvhether he
was“working with anybody” in oder to get a television showlay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 66

(Testimony of Ed Schultz). “No. Yo it,” the defendanteplied,as a gooéhatured response to
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one of his fansld. This seemingly innocemxchangelencheda multiyear business
partnership between the plaintiff and tlefeshdant—at least according to the plaintfitrial
testimony SeeMay 13, 2015 Tr. at 168.1(Testimony of Michael Queen)After hearing five
days of testimony, and needing only two hours of deliberation, thegached an alternate
conclusion Thepartiesneverformed a business partnershipeeVerdict Form, ECF Nol178

The plaintiff now seeks to tummside thgury verdictand present his claim amdor jury
consideration.SeePl.’s Mot. & Mem. New Tria[(*Pl.’'s Mem.”), ECF No. 192.For the reasons
stated below, the plaintiff's request for yet another oppostwaitonvince a faetinder of the
merits of his claims denied.
l. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

In 2008, the defendant was a political radiothizsed in Fargo, North Dakot&eeMay
12, 2015 AM Tr. at 98, ECF No. 186estimony of Ed Schultz)He aspired to host a television
show and, to that enthade frequenjuestappearances on telsion news commentary
programs.SeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 60 (Testimony of Ed Schult©n the dayhe parties
met,the defendantad just made a guest appearance on “Hardball with Chris Mattaeds”
was leavingan NBC studio in Washington D.CSeed. at 64(Testimony of Ed Schultz)The
plaintiff, whoworked at NBC as a cameramaaeMay 13, 2015 Trat 11 (Testimony of
Michael Queen)approachedhe defendaréind introduced himseléeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at
65 (Testimony of Ed SchultZ) The two had dleeting five-to-ten minute conversation, during

which the plaintifishowedhe defendarnthe studicof the “Meet the Press Id.

! Theplaintiff hadbeenafan of the defendansincehearinghisradioshowfor thefirst time while driving to work.
SeeMay 13, 2015PM Tr. at 12—13(Testimonyof MichaelQueen)“l canrecalldriving to work andlisteningto this
guy on theradio. At first | thoughthe soundedike RushLimbaugh. | continuedo listen,andl reallyliked whatl|
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During this brief encounter, the plaintifirgedthe defendanio gethis owntelevision
show SeeMay 13, 2015 Tr. at 13 (Testimony of Michael Queen); May 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 66
(Testimony of Ed Saultz) (“[ Y] ou’ve got to have yar own TV show’). The defendant agreed.
“Are you working with anybodyto get a television showhe plaintiff asked.May 15, 2015
AM Tr. at 66(Testimony of Ed Schultz)No. You're it,” the defendant respondad wha the
defendantharacterized asgenerakresponse to a fand. The plaintiff then asked the
defendant for his business caild. at 67. To be “courteus,” the defendaist wife providedthe
plaintiff with the defendant’s card, #se defendandid not want to “come off as a jerk” by
refusingto give out his business carttl.

Following this initial xchange andver the ensuing months, the plaintiff and defendant
continued tacommunicae. The plaintiff called the defendant and the two ldhett“exploratory
conversations about . . . a TV showd. These included teleconferen@@songthe plaintiff,
the defendant aral third personMax Schindler, whom the plaintiff had recruited to participate
because of Mr. Schindler’s priexperience directing television prografnd. at 68-69.

During theseteleconferenceshe parties discussed the possibility of producing a syndicated talk
show that would air on local stations, akin to the popular “McLangbloup.® SeeMay 12,

2015PM Tr. at 8384 (Testimony of Ed Schultz). Shortly after these discussionsdgiga

washearing. Althoughhewasin theMidwest, | didn’t think our pathswould evercross,but | thoughtif onefine
day thatwould happenmaybel could,you know, speakto him. . . . Iliked what | washearing.”).

2 Mr. Schindlethadbeena directorfor severakelevisionprogramsjncluding“Meet the Press,"andhadmetthe
plaintiff whenthe plaintiff workedasatemporarycameramain oneof thoseprograms.SeeMay 12, 2015°M Tr.
at47-50, ECHNo. 187 (Testimonyof Max Schindler). Until trial, thedefendanhadnevermetor seenMr.
Schindler. SeeMay 15, 2015AM Tr. at 70 (Testimonyof Ed Schultz).

3 Thepartiescannotrecallwith specificitythenumberof teleconferenceim which theyparticipated. SeeMay 12,
2015AM Tr. at 43 (Testimonyof Ed Schultz)(“I knowwe hadthree[teleconferences]! think we mighthavehad
four, maybefive. Certainlynotanywhereneardoubk figuresbecausét wasjust afew.”); May 12, 2015°PM Tr. at
52 (Testimonyof Max Schindler)*Thereweremanyteleconferenceallsandl guesssomewherdetweens and15
...."); May 13, 2015°PM Tr. at 26 (Testimonyof Michael Queen)(“It’'s hardfor meto remembesexactlyhow
many[teleconferencegherewere. I'm goingto sayfive to ten perhaps.”).
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Schindler insisted on a signed written agreerbehiveen the partiesSeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr.
at 70 (Testimony of Ed Schultz)

As a result, irMarch 2008)ess tha three months after their first brief introductioime
plaintiff put togethea proposedartnership agreement and sentitsigned by either the
plaintiff or Mr. Schindlerto the defendant for his consideratidd. at 71. Upon receipt, the
defendabforwardedthe agreement to his personal attorney, Jeffrey LallaMr. Landa’s
response was immediate and definite: “Ed, please do not sign that agréelisheMr. Landa
need nohave fearedthe defendant knew immediately that the proposed agreement‘'nas a
starter. SeeMay 12, 2015 AM Tr. at 7975. During trial, atplaintiff's counsel’'s express
invitation and using a red pen supplied by plaintiff's courtbel defendant explainedl of his
problems with thelaintiff's proposed partnershggreement.Seeid. at 67* Describing the
terms on one page as “terrible” and “horrendous,” the defendant proceatisttibe the
fundamental unfairness and problems wht@central terms of thproposed agreemengee d.
at 69

First,the defendant criticized the agreemsmroposal for joint creative decision
making. The proposal required creative decision making to be split betledafendant, the
plaintiff, and Mr. Schindler (whom the plaintiff had yet to med®ermittingthe plaintiff and
Mr. Schindler an effective veto over creative decision making was astaoter’for the
defendanbecause “after 35 years of . . . being in [the entertainment] buditresdefendant

was not] going to turn . . . control of [a] televisisimw over to a man that [he has] never met

4 Plaintiffs counselmadethe oddtacticaldecisionto providethe defendant-anotedpolitical radiohost—with an
openforum, off thewitnessstandard directlyin front of thejury, to discusdhis views of the plaintiff's proposed
partnershigerms. SeeMay 12, 2015AM Tr. at 66-83 (“Mr.Abbott Couldthewitnessstepdown,Your Honor?. .
. Mr. Abbott Would you circle for thejury with this red penwhatyou disagreedvith? . . . Mr. Abbott Would you
do mefavor andwrite terrible on theretoo?. . .Mr. Abbott Couldyou explainwhatis terrible or horrendousbout
paragrapmumberone?”)
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before.” Id. at 70. Second, the defendant criticized the agreement’s contemplati&al of
Schultz FShirts” and other related Ed Schultz paraphernalia. The defendant faltithad term
would permit Mr. Quee and Mr. Schindler to “invad[e] his career” and that he would be
required to “turn everything over to themld. at 7173. Third, the defendant criticized ttegm
relating to salaries, whigbermitted fs]alaries paid to individual partners [to] be o&gted on
an individual basis by each individual without the approval of thergiartners.”ld. at 74-75.
The defendant noted that such a term would permit the plaintifen8chindler “to dictate . . .
what their salarjwas] going to be withoughis] approval.” Id. at 75. Fourth, the defendant
criticized the requirement that all partners live in Washingtd@ Bnd approve of all business
related travel, worrying that such a provision would permit the qifners to vetoewsstories
the defendant might wish to pursue outside of Washington RL.Git 8-8Q Finally, the
defendant criticized the termination provision of the agreemdnthvetated that the agreement
would stay in effect until the defendant was off the airafperiod of three yeardd. at 80. The
defendant noted that television shows are frequently cancetiethainsuch a term wouldean
he was “done in the industry for the next three years” shouldlaoy be cancelledid.
Needless to say, the defendant never signed the draft agreement and tivedpardies never
signed any agreemengeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 73 (Testimony of Ed Schultz)

Around this same timehe partiesalsodiscussed the possibility of dividing any profits
from a potentiapartnership fifty percent for the defendant, twelntg percent for the plaintiff,
and twentyfive percent for Mr. SchindlerSeeMay 12, 2015AM Tr. at 84 (Testimony oEd
Schultz)(testifying regarding email in which he stated that he would “agraé0, 25, 25

percentage formula of profits after expenses of the showkljhough the parties discusssdch

5 This discussiorformedthe basisfor the plaintiff's theoryof the partnershigresentedo theD.C. Circuit. See
Queernv. SchultzZQueenll), 747 F.3d879, 886D.C. Cir. 2014).
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apotentialdivision of profits they never entered ineofinalagreement.Seed. at 41. Due to
the defendant’s continued refusal to sign any agreement, Mr. &athsiholpped participating in
the discussions between the pldfraind the defendantSeeMay 12 2015PM Tr. at 78-79
(Testimony of Max Schine).

On April 5, 2008 following Mr. Schindler’s departuréhe defendansent the plaintiff an
emait

| understand your concern about a financial arrangement movingrfh | can't

give you specifics at this time. We do not know what we are dealing whisat

point and what kind adpportunity may present itself. However, any TV deal will

obviously involve you. | will not do a TV deal without your involvemant that

includes a financial involvement. Rest assured, we are togethieisdrhope this
works for you at this point.

Queen Il, 747 F.3dat 883. Despite the relevance of this email to the plaintiff's themgy the
fact that the email was specifically identified by the D.C. @irin its opinion on summary
judgment as a critical piece of evidenseeg id, plaintiff’'s counselfailed to ask the defendant
during his direct examinaticabout the email, and, as discussed below, failed to introdece th
emailinto evidencauntil after he rested his case in cHiefeeMay 14 2015AM Tr. at 196-97.
Discussions between the parties continued even after Mr. Schiedieed participating
butthe plaintiff's frustration boiled over in early JunBothered bythe involvement of the
defendant’s personal attorney, Mr. Landa, the plaintiff sendéfendantin email informing him
that he “cart do this.” May 14, 2015AM Tr. at 15354 (Testimony of Michael Queégn The
defendant understood the plaintiff's communication to mean thalaheiff “had given up” and
would not be involved in anyore efforts riated to a potential television showBeeMay 15,

2015AM Tr. at B (Testimony of Ed Schultz)The following day, the defendant responded to

6 As notedinfra, theplaintiff waspermittedto reopenhis caseto introduce ebinderof approximately\800emails
oneof which wastheemailfrom April 5, 2008. SeeMay 14, 2015AM Tr. at 175-85.
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the plaintiff's email, stating “I'm sorry we can’t make this workaplpreciate all your efforts.”
Id. at 80. Later that same afternoon, the defendant again entagegalaintiff and stated: “I'm
back to my original position. Let's draw up a short letter and gotes to produce the pilotrd.
at 8.

As a resultthe plaintiff and the defendadtd agredogetherto produce a television pilot
starring the defendanSeeMay 12, 2015AM Tr. at 87(Testimony of Ed Schultz) (testifying
regarding‘a verbal agreemeifbetween the partie$p make the pilot and send it out to
television stations. . .”). The déendant provideall the contentor the pilot includingthe
music, the political commentgrgnd interviews withihree political figureswhose appearances
the defendant arrangédSeeMay 11, 2015 PM Tr. at 746, ECF No. 16@Testimony of Ed
Schultz). The plaintiffarranged for the use of his employer’s studio at a discounted thpaian
the upfront costef the pilot, approximately $11,00@vhichthe defendant subsequently
reimbursecalong with otheexpenses SeeMay 11, 2015PM Tr. at 8283 (Tedimony of Ed
Schultz) May 13, 2015 Tr. at 23 (Testimony of Michael Queedpon completionthe plairtiff
mailed copies of the pildb various televisiorexecutivesincluding executives at CNN, CBS,
MSNBC. SeeMay 13, 2015 Tr. at 48 (Testimony Mlichael Queeny. The plaintiff also sought

funding for the potential show spliciting funds from wealthy individuals, such &sBoone

" Thedefendantnterviewedfor thepilot former SouthDakotaSenatoiTom Daschlethen-North DakotaSenator
Byron Dorgan,andRichardViguerie. SeeMay 12, 2015AM Tr. at91.

8 At trial, the plaintiff arguedto thejury thatthe plaintiff submittedtwo copiesof the pilot to NBC andthatNBC
receivedthe pilot butneverreturnedatleastoneof the copies. SeeMay 11, 2015PM Tr. at 38 (Plaintiff's Opening
Statement[“They getthe pilot, theygetthe packageandtheyhavethislog. You're goingto seeit. It's coming
into evidence.And thelog says'Received.” And thelog alsosays'Date Returned, andthere’sno dateonit. So
theevidencedrom thedocumentsn this cases gang to be thathe sentthe pilot to the presidentof MSNBC, and
theyalsosentit to California,andthatit nevercameback.”). Theplaintiff, however failed to lay a foundationfor
theadmissionof the NBC submissiorlogsasbusinessecords SeeMay 14, 2015AM Tr. at 18790 (denying
admissiorto plaintiff's exhibit 63 becauseheplaintiff did not offer apropercustodiangualifiedwitness,or proper
certificationasrequiredunderFederalRule of Evidence803(6)).
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Pickens without promptingpr approvafrom the defendantSeeMay 14, 2015 AM Tr. at 15%
52 (Testimony of Michael Qeen)

Subsequently, iNovember 2008he defendant appearad a reporteat PresidentElect
BarackObama'sfirst press conference following his electioBeeMay 15, 2015AM Tr. at105—
07 (Testimony of Ed Schultz)The defendant sat the front row and was visible to those
watching on televisionld. Fortunately for the defendant, among those watching was Phil
Griffin, the president of MSNBC.Id. Later, Mr. Griffin contacted the defendaminpressedhat
the defendant had a frerw seat at the first press conferermag the two discussed the
possibility of the defendant hosting his otetevisionshow on MSNBC. Id. at 108-09. As a
test run, the defendanias required tappear three times as a guest host of various programs.
Id. at 111. Due to his success during these temporary positienglaintiff entered into an
agreement with MSNBC to host “The Ed Showd’ at 115-16.

After agreeing to host “The Ed Show,” communications between tleadiit and the
plaintiff droppedoff. In his pleadings, the defendant attributed the falling othtéglaintiff's
“bizarre conduct,” and the fact that he was “stalking Schultz and Schult#gs] vinswer 71,
ECF No. 5% In particular, the defendant alleged that the plaintiffapep harass him and his
wife with communications threatening litigation and blackmail if tekeddant did not accede to

his compensation demands, which resulted in a emasddesist letter being sent to the plaintiff

® The plaintiff's theory of the case appeared to be that Mr. Giifthabout his reasons for contacting the defendant
and that hisctualinterestin the defendardtemmed fromwatchingthe pilotthat the parties had collaborated in
making. Theplaintiff concededhoweverthat he does “not have any evidence that [Mr. Griffin] actusdly the

pilot.” May 14, 2015AM Tr. at 160 Testimony of Michael Queen). Testimony from the defendant’is éss

partner, Paul Woodhull suggests an alternative basird@riffin’s familiarity with the defendant. In 2006, Mr.
Woodhull met with Mr. Griffin regarding the defendant’s potdrigéevision prospects and continued to maintain
contact and “keep the opportunity warm” over the next sevesabySeed. at 94-95 (Testimonyof Paul

Woodhull).

10 Theplaintiff's pretrialmotionin limine to excludeuseof theword “stalker” or “stalking” in referenceo the

plaintiff, wasgranted.SeeMinute Order,datedMay 1, 2015grantingplaintiff's motionin limine, ECFNo. 94).
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on July 30, 20091d. The defendanfurther allegd that, on July 21, 2010, the plaintiff “read a
defamatory statement publically accusing Schultz of, among dtingist stealing and causing
him to finance his home to pay for the pilotd. The plaintiff was permitted at trial to show
video footage of the plaintiff's accusations, which he natdecompany‘town hall” meeting
directly to the President of the NBC News Division and to the CEIB& Universal Media,
LLC. SeeMay 13, 2015 Trat 67~68.The defendant also claedin his original pleadinghat
on or before May 20, 2010, the plaintiff “caused to be written aspedsase’ containing the
false and slanderous statement®., “that Schultz had a business contract with Queen and that
Schultz reneged on otlerwise breachethat contract “that Schultz defrauded Queen and that
Schultz owed Queen money for, among other things, producing a pimpfoposed television
show; and, that Schultz caused Queen to mortgage his house to firapdettfor a proposed
televisionshow project.” Countercl. Y 11, 223, ECF No 5!

On May 10, 2011, the plaintiff filed suit.

B. Procedural Background

The evershifting nature of the plaintiff's claims has resulted in a todyrecedural
history. Theplaintiffs Complaint assestfive causes of actioBreach of Contract; Breach of
Implied-in-Fact Contract; Fraud in the Inducement; Tortious Interarevith Business
Relationships; iad Intentional Infliction of Emotional DistressSeeCompl., ECF No. 1.
Throughout the@roceedings, aneven up to anduringtrial, “the nature of this alleged contract
[between the partieslas eluded precise definition and has been characterized by thefphaintif

a variety of ways.”Queen ] 888 F. Supp. 2dt 158.

11 Basedon theseeventsthedefendanfiled a counterclaimagainstheplaintiff allegingfraud, slanderandlibel.
SeeCountercl. Summaryjudgmentwasgrantedo theplaintiff onthe defendant’counterclaim.SeeQueerv.
Schultz(Queenl), 888F. Supp.2d 145, 175D.D.C. 2012)aff'din part,rev'din part andremanded747F.3d879
(D.C.Cir. 2014).



In the plaintiff's Complaint, the plaintiff alleged that he entered into a contraerte as
the defendant’s agenSeeCompl. 1 53 (“During December 2008 and January 2009, Michael
Queen acteds Ed Schultz's ageimt Washington DC . . . ."lemphasis addegdid.  76(“To
date, Schultz has refused to compensate Queen with a percentage of the inconneetiad Q
entitled to as part owner of the show andasgentor Schultz.”)(emphasis added)in
oppositionto the defendant’s first motion for summary judgment plaetiff changed course
andcharacterized the contract as an “oral, written, and implied in factamirtr forma
partnershipfor the sole purpose of pitching the concept of a TV show featuring teaddeft as
host.” Queen ] 888 F. Supp. 2d at 158mphasis addedgiting Pl.’s Opp’n Def.’s Mot. Summ
J., ECF No. 24). In the plaintiff's own motion for partial snary judgmenthowever despite
passing references to a partnersttg, plaintiffdescribeda contract‘to create, produce and
pitch the show” andagain, agn “agreement to have [the plaintiff] develop and pitch the concept
of a TV show with [the defendant] as hos&&ePl.'s Mem.Supp Pl.’s Mot. Partial Summ. &t
17-18 ECF No. 30 At several points in the plaintiffewn motionfor partial summary
judgmentand in opposing the defendant’s second motion for summary judgtine mlaintiff
alsoreferredto theallegedcontractas a “joint venture.”Seed. at 19 (“During the course of the
TV project, the parties agreed to basicpensation terms fdhe joint venturewhich was a 50
25-25 split.”) (emphasis addedPl.’s Second Opp'Pef.’s Second Mot. Summ. at 33 ECF
No. 32(same). Despite the different theories of liabilitye plaintiff did not plead these
allegations asseparate causes of actiomstieadthe plaintiffpled asinglebreach of contract
claim.

This Court previously granted summary judgment to the defendant cyualisin the

plaintiffs Complaint Due to the imprecision in the plaintiffs Complaint, at summadgent
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the Court considered the plaintiftseach of contract allegation under tdistinct frameworks.
The Court considered whether the defendant breached a contract under arnregegand
under a partnership theorysee Queen 888 F. Supp. 2d at 159 (“[T]he Court discerns two
distinct, potential agreements: (1) an agreement whereby the pldéw#loped and pitched a
show on behalf of the defendant; and (2) an agreement whereby the planaif€ed and
pitched a show in partndnp with the defendari). Underanagency theory, this Court
concluded that the plaintiff “failed to create a genuine issue of mdeamiaegarding the
absence of agreement on the material terms of the alleged contdaett”162. This Court also
concluded that a reasonable factfinder cowlti‘conclude that the defendant ever objectively
manifested an intent to be bouhdQueen ] 888 F. Supp. 2d d63. With respect to the
partnership theorras notedfirst urged in the plaintiff's oppositioto the defendant’s motion
for summary judgmentthe Court concludethat the plaintiff’ “failed to create a genuine issue
of fact regarding whether the parties intended to form a partnershipt thigethe parties’
“relationship . . . was devoid of any ieéh of a partnership.1d. at 166.

The D.C. Circuit disagreedl'he Circuit affirmed the dismissal of the breach of contract
and otherclaims in the Complaintbut held that “a reasonable jury could conclude from the
parties’conduct and communications that Queen and Schultz intended to, andrdid, fo
partnership to develop a television showQueen || 747 F.3d at 888The Circuit acknowledged
that theplaintiff's “complaint contains no assertion of a breach of partnership duties) taad
nowhere uses the word ‘partnershipQueenll, 747 F.3d at 886Nonetheless, at the urging of
both partiesluring appellate oral argumemhe Circuit addressed the plaintiff's breach of
contract claim under a partnership theofye Circuit concludethat theplaintiff's effortsto

arrangethe pilot, the sworn statementsdm Mr. Schindler regarding Mr. Schindler’'s agreement
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to partner in the projedt andthe defendant’s statement in an April 5, 2008 email that the
plaintiff would have “a financial involvement” in a subsequefévision dealprovided

sufficient evidence to warrant a jury trial on whether the parties ddranpartnership to develop
a tekvision show” and whether the defendant “breached his duty of loyadgr District of
Columbia partnership law Id. at 888-89. Although dismissing the plaintiff's breach of
contract claim, which asserted a verbal contract entitling the plamti¥enty five percent of
any profits, the Circuit permittealpartnership clainbo go forward fora “50/50 split of profits
with [the defendant.]”See idat 889 (acknowledging that “[i]t might seem counterintuitive that
Queen, having failed to demonstrate #xistence of an enforceable agreement entitling him to
25% of the income after expenses from ‘The Ed Show,’ can nonethalsse @ partnership
theory that could entitle him to a 50/50 split of profits with Schi)ltzAccordingly, he Circuit
concludel thatthe plaintiffwas “entitled to present his case to a jutiiat the plaintiff and the
defendantformed a partnership to develop a television show and that [the defEehdzached
his duty of loyalty under District of Columbia partnership lawd:

Before the case could proceed to trhedywever this Court was left with arocedural
predicamentWhat claim from the plaintiff's Complaint survived summary judgrfieiihe D.C.
Circuit had affirmed the dismissal of the plaintiff's breacleaiftract claimseeQueen || 747
F.3d at 889 (“We concludiat the district court correctly granted summary judgment tal&ch
on Queen’s claim that he, Schindler, and Schultz entered into an enforceatdetcant.”) and
the plaintiff's original Complaint did not mention a partnerskgeCompl Having never

alleged a partnership, the defendant was now forced to defend himsedt @agdneory of

12 TheD.C. Circuit doesnot explainhow Mr. Schindler'sswornstatementhatMr. Schindler*agreedto partnerin
theproject™ beas on theissueof whetherthe defendamigreedo partnerin the project—the centralissueof the
dispute Queenll, 747F.3dat 886-89.
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liability of which he had no noticguring discovery prior to the first round of summary judgment
motions Consequentlyupon remandgiscovery was reopendadr a period othreemonths on
the issue of partnershiprmation and breaclseeMinute OrderdatedMay 27, 2014to
supplement the previodisze months of discoverieading up to the first round of summary
judgement motionsseeMinute Orderdated July 8, 2011

Following discoveryon the plaintiff's partnership theory, the defendant again sought
summary judgment Mindful of the Circuit’'s admonitionbased on edence that remained
unchangedihatthe plaintiff was “entitledo present his claim to a juryQueen I} 747F.3d at
889 this Court concluded that there weraffeient disputed issues of material fact regarding
the formation, duration, and allegedthdrawal fromi the purported partnership deny
summary judgmentSeeMinute Order, dated November 26, 2014.doing so, howevethe
Court also notethe irony of the plaintiff's criticism thate defendant’s “argument underlying
his Motion for Sutmary Judgment clearly underscores his precise misunderstanding of
issues to be triediecauséthe plaintiff [had] not yet moved to amend his pleading to include a
partnership claim, leaving ‘the defendant and the court . . . to speablaiit the prse
parameters of the claii.ld. (quotingDef.’s Reply Pl.’s Opp’n Def.’s Mot.8nm. J. at 4, ECF
No. 73). Thus, the Court afforded the plaintiff the opportunity to clahni/breach of
partnership claim and instructed the plaintiff to amendCbisiplaint to provide the defendant
proper notice regardindpe claim alleged.Id. Rather than seize the opportunitydetail his side
of the story anallege clearly the circumstances giving rise todlegedpartnership, the

plaintiff obfuscated?3

13 The plaintiff's failureto properlyamenchis Complaint,andtheresultaniprejudiceto the defendantserveasthe
foundationfor the defendant’sequestor attorneys’feesfor the plaintiff's “bad faith” litigation conduct. SeeDef.’s
Mem. Supp.Mot. Award Att'ys Feesat 5, ECFNo. 92-1. To besure,theplaintiff's conductthroughouthe
litigation hascausedconcernjncludinghisrepeatedailure to identify histheorythatthe allegedpartnershigormed
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Theplaintiff's proposed amended complaint simpiybstituted thevord “partnership”
for “contract”andsprinkled the word$as part of his services providemthe Partnership as a
partnef throughouthis otherwiseunchangegre-existing allegationsSeeFirst Am Compl.,
ECF No. 781; see alsd-eb. 27, 2015 Hearing Tr. at 34, ECF No(8%he Court:[W] hat
you’ve essentially done is just scatter the waattner or ‘partnershipwhere it previously
talked about a contract. Have | got that pretty mugiht? [Plaintiff's Counsel] Yes, your
honor.”). Although leave to amend should be freely given, the plaintiff cootdneet even the
generous standards afforded to him under Rule 15. At a hearing on Fetu20¢5, the Court
denied the plaintiffanotion to amend his Complaint due to “undue delay” and “undue
prejudice.” Feb. 27, 2015 Hearing Tr. at 46he Court also determined that it was a “close
guestion” whether the plaintiff's submission was made in bal. f&eeid. at 44(“Considering
the pattern of shifting theories and allegations the plaintiff kh#bged throughout this suit, it's
arguable that the plaintiff's failure to amend his complaint was ammbexercise of bad faith or
dilatory motive, since the vagueness of the plaintiff's claimspnagented the defendant from
addressing the plaintiff's charges directly, and every time the dafitihds managed to do so,
the plaintiff's clams have been dismissed.’As a resulbf the plaintiff's utter failure to comply
with the requiements of Rule 15he plaintiff never allegelefore trial thespecificsregarding
the formation, duration, and scope of any partnership between the.pBEragwecise nature of

the plaintiff's view of thealleged partnershipnly became clear at trial

afterabrief, casualfirst-meetingconverstion in ahallway of atelevisionstudio. Nonethelesghe Courtis not
convincedthatthe plaintiff's or plaintiff's counsel’sactionshaveamountedo badfaith anddeliberatemisconduct.
Accordingly,thedefendant’'sMotion for an Award of Attorney’'sFees ECFNo. 194,is denied. The plaintiff's
correspondindvotion to Strike Defendant’sViotion for Award of Attorney’'sFeesECFNo. 198,is deniedasmoot.
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C. Trial

Over the course of the trial, the plaintiff presented eight wseseg&ncluding both the
plaintiff and the defendant), while the defense presented six wahéasiso including both the
plaintiff and the defendant)

The plaintiff's theory at tal differed from the meager details the plaintiff offered prior to
trial.1* Although the D.CCircuit treated the plaintiff's partnership claim as an oral agraeme
between the plaintiff, the defendant, and Mr. Schindlee, Queen )I747 F.3d at 886, #tial,
the plaintiff argued that the plaintiff and the defendant formed agqyattip during the brief
conversatiorattheir initial encountem the hallwayof a televisionstudio. SeeMay 13, 2015 Tr.
at 109-11 (Defense CounselDid the partnershipetween you and Mr. Schultz come into
existence in the hallway at Channel 4 in January of 2008? That's @rybat’'s a nd. The
Plaintiff: “He told me we were to work together, and | took that as & y&@sfense Counsel:
“You took that as yes, youVea partnership. Is that what you're telling”ughe Plaintift
“That’s what he told me, yésDefense Counsgl[A] s far as you're concerned, that’s when the
partnership came into existentePhe Plaintiff:“If what | said satisfies your definitioof a
partnership, that would be a yedDefense Counsgll’'m simply asking you, as a matter of fact,
whether that’s when you think . . . the partnership came intoeexist That'she only question
I’'m asking you.” The Plantiff: “It seemgeasonable.”).Not done, lhe plaintiff further argued
that theallegedpartnership lasted up through, and including, {aad even aftetrial since the
defendant had not filed a formal dissolution of the partnersi@pgMay 15 2015PM Tr. at 74

ECF No. 168(“The Court: So you're asking for a judgment as a mattiwvobecause i your

14 Hadtheplaintiff properlyidentified his partnershigtheoryat the outsetof proceeding, the defendanaissertshat
“suchaclaim. . .would havehadlittle or no chanceo survivescrutinyby the defendantr the Court.” Def.’s
Mem. Supp.Mot. Award Att'ys Feesat 2, ECFNo. 194-1.
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theory that the partnership began in January 2008, the veryrfiesttie plaintiff met the
defendant, and continues up until this ddf?Raintiff's Counsdl: If there is a partnership, yes,
ma’am”).1®

The plaintiff's caseaisednot onlysuchtheoretical difficulties but alssufferedfrom
practical difficulties in the presentation of evidence. As just@tample,dllowing opening
statements, the plaintiff ted his first witness, the defendant. Prioragkingany questions
laying anyfoundation,or discussing the issue in advance with defense couhsgdlaintiff
moved in front of the juryto admitapproximately 200 pages of emaitontained in twdarge
binders SeeMay 11, 2015 PMr. at 52. The defendant, of courséjected. Thus launched an
arduougprocesover thenextfour trial days during which the plaintiff repeatedlyemptedo
admit binders of emails without foundation and over $eapbjections® See, e.gMay 12,
2015 AM Tr. at 79, 93-94 May 13, 2015 Tr. at 7, May 14, 2015 AM Tr. at 3871 It was
only after the plaintiff rested his casendat thediscretionof the Courtthat the plaintiff was
permitted to reopen his casad admit approximately 300 pages of unindexed emails between
himself and the defendangeeMay 14, 2015 AM Tr. at 1785. Indeed, defense counsel was
generally unable to describe the number of emails incladexhgst this package of emailSee

id. at 168-69. This is just one example of the opportunities afforded to thetiffido ensure

15 Theplaintiff's theoryof the casg aspresentedittrial, raisednumerousssuesincludinghowto determinghe
amountof damageslaimedby the plaintiff andoverwhat periodof time thosedamagesccruedsincethe parties
neveragreedo anymaterialtermsof the partnership Would the plaintiff be entitledto half or someother
percentagef the defendant’salaryupto a datecertainor continuingon into the future, or would someother
measuraleterminghevalueof thedefendant’sllegedbreach?

6 Throughoutrial, plaintiff's counselshoweda fundamentamisunderstandingf thehearsayule. For example
The Court:What'sthehearsayexception] you'rerelying on sinceyou are offering the out-of-court
statemenof your own client. Sowhat’syour hearsayexception?
[Plaintiffs Counsel]: Ibelieveit's nothearsayyour Honor. | believeit’s not.
The Court: And you believeit's not hearsaypecausef why?
[Plaintiffs Counsel]:Becausehe persorwho saidit is hereto testify.

May 14, 2015AM Tr. at171-72.
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that the plaintiff received the benefit of every procedural doubtdardo present his claim fully
to the jury.

After hearing testimony and assessing tWidaence, the jury needed only two hours to
return a defense verdichNow pending before the Court is the plaintiff's Motion and
Memorandum for New Trial!

. LEGAL STANDARD

UnderFederaRuleof Civil Procedureés9, following ajury trial, thecourtmaygranta
motionfor anewtrial “for anyreasorfor which anewtrial hasheretoforebeengrantedn an
actionat law in federalcourt.” FeD. R. Civ. P.59(a)(1)(A);seealso Radtkev. LifecareMgmt.
Partners 2015WL 4528494 at*2 (D.C. Cir. July 28, 2015).Ratherthandefinethe precise
circumstancegustifying anewtrial, Rule 59 turnsto caselaw andpermitsanewtrial in those
circumstancegraditionallyviewedaspermittinganewtrial. ABM Marking,Inc. v. Zanasi
Fratelli, SRL 353F.3d541, 543 7th Cir. 2003)(“Rule 59(a),in abit of acircularway, allows
newtrials in casesvherenewtrials havebeentraditionallyallowedat law.”). “The courthasthe
poweranddutyto orderanewtrial wheneverjn its judgmentthis action is requiredin orderto

preventinjustice.” 11 CharlesAlan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, etal., FederalPractice and

7 Theplaintiff alsourgesthe Courtto recusdtself from consideratiorof this motionandall futureproceedings
under 28J.S.C.8§ 455,which requiresrecusalin anyproceedingn which [anyjustice,judge,or magistratgudge]
mightreasonablybe questioned.'SeePl.’s Mot. RecusalECFNo. 191. In supporiof his motion,the plaintiff cites
someof the samereasonaisedto supporthis motion for anewtrial, includingdefensecounsel’sclosingstatements,
thejury selectionprocesspommentanadeattrial to plaintiff's counsekegardinghe basisfor the plaintiff's
objections,aswell asgeneral’bias andlack of partiality” baseduponunfavorableulingsandcourtroomdemeanor.
Id. Theplaintiff fails to note,however thetacticsanduncooperativeonductemployedby counséthroughouthese
proceedingsseeDef.’s Notice Regardind_etterto Court,ECF No. 121 (discussindailure by theplaintiff to
cooperaten creationof joint pretrial statement)which requiredthe Courtatthe prerial conferenceo remindboth
plaintiff's counselanddefensecounselof the D.C. Bar VoluntaryStandardgor Civility in ProfessionaConductsee
May 1, 2015RoughHr. Tr. at 12—14. Ultimately, the plaintiff's motion pointsto no extrajudicialsourceof biasand
insteadrelieson “routine trial administrationefforts,andordinaryadmonishments. .to counselandto witnesses,”
all of which occurred‘in the courseof judicial proceedingsandnoneof which “displayeddeepseatecand
unequivocal antagonisthatwould renderfair judgmentmpossible.” Litekyv. United States 510U.S. 540,556
(1994). Theplaintiff's motionis denied.
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Procedure8 2805 (3ced.2012. Accordingly, motionsfor anewtrial aregrantedonly when
“the courtis convincedthatthe jury verdict wasa ‘seriouslyerroneousesult andwheredenial
of themotionwill resultin a‘clear miscarriageof justice!” In re Lorazepam & Clorazepate
AntitrustLitig., 467F. Supp. 2d 74, 8{D.D.C. 2006)(citationomitted) seealsoRicev. Dist. of
Columbig 818F. Supp. 2d47,60(D.D.C. 2011) (The standardor grantinga newtrial is not
whetherminor evidentiaryerrorsweremadebut ratherwhethertherewasa clearmiscarriageof
justice.”) (citationomitted) Nymanv. FDIC, 967F. Supp. 1562, 156@.D.C.1997)(same).A
newtrial is almostneverjustified “on groundsnot calledto the court’sattentionduringthetrial
unlessthe errorwasso fundamentathat grossinjusticewould result.” SeeWright & Miller,
suprg 8 2805at 73.

Thehighthresholdfor anewtrial reflectsthe “well-settled”principlethat “Rule 59is not
avehiclefor relitigatingold issuespresentinghe caseundernewtheories securingarehearing
onthe merits,or otherwisetaking a‘secondbite at theapple?” Sequa Corpv. GBJCorp., 156
F.3d136, 144 (2cCir. 1998);seealsoAeroInt’l, Inc. v. U.S.Fire Ins. Co., 713F.2d 1106, 1113
(5th Cir. 1983). “Although partiesmay certainlyrequestanewtrial or amendedindingswhere
clearerrorsor manifestinjusticethreatenjn the absencef suchcorruptionof the judicial
processesyherelitigantshaveoncebattledfor the court’s decision theyshouldneitherbe
required,nor without goodreasorpermitted,to battlefor it again” Int'l Ore & Fertilizer Corp.
v. SGSControl Servs.Jnc., 38F.3d1279, 128712d Cir. 1994) (nternalquotationsandcitation
omitted)

“The authorityto grantanewtrial . . .is confidedalmostentirelyto the exerciseof
discretiononthe partof thetrial court.” Allied Chem Corp.v. Daiflon, Inc., 449U.S.33, 36

(1980);McNealv. Hi-Lo PoweredScaffolding)nc., 836F.2d637, 646D.C. Cir. 1988)(“The
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decisionwhetherto grantamotionfor anewtrial is ordinarily ‘entrustedo the sounddiscretion
of thetrial court.” (quotingGroganv. Gen.Maint. Serv.Co., 763F.2d444, 447D.C. Cir.
1985)). In exercisingthis discretion,the courtmust“be mindful of thejury’s specialfunctionin
ourlegalsystemandhesitateto disturbits finding.” Longv. HowardUniv., 512F. Supp. 2d 1, 6
(D.D.C. 2007)(internalquotationmarksandcitationsomitted).

The SupremeCourthasmadeclearthat“[a litigant] is entitledto afair trial but nota
perfectone,’ for thereareno perfecttrials.” McDonoughPowerEquip.v. Greenwood464U.S.
548, 553 (1984{quotingBrownv. United States411U.S. 223, 231-32 (1973) This principle
is predicatecdbnthe soundpragmatiaeasonshat“[t]rials arecostly, notonly for the parties,but
alsofor the jurorsperformingtheir civic dutyandfor societywhich paysthe judgesandsupport
personnelvho managehetrials. It seemsdoubtfulthatour judicial systemwould havethe
resourceso providelitigantswith perfecttrials, weretheypossible andstill keepabreasof its
constantlyincreasingcaseload.”ld.

“A newtrial is unwarrantedf thetrial erroris harmless.” Caudlev. Dist. of Columbig
707F.3d354, 359D.C. Cir. 2013) €iting United Statess. Whitmore, 359F.3d609, 624D.C.
Cir. 2004));seealsoWright & Miller, supra 8§ 2882 (fA] district courtin passingon amotion
for anewtrial . . . mustbe guided bywhat substantiajusticerequiresandmustdisregarderrors
thatwereharmless.). To determinevhetheranerroris harmlessacourtmust®™ measur[ethe
harmin termsof whetherthe errorhadsubstantiabndinjuriouseffector influencein
determiningthe jury’s verdict, not merelywhethertherecordevidences sufficientabsenthe
errorto warrant[the jury verdict]. Consequentlyanevidentiaryerroris harmlessf (1) thecase

is not close,(2) theissuenot central,or (3) effectivestepswveretakento mitigatethe effectsof
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theerror.” Caudle 707F.3dat 361(quotingAshcraft& Gerelv. Coady,244F.3d948, 953
(D.C. Cir. 2001).
[11. DISCUSSION

The plaintiff presentthreeprincipal grounds of alleged error as his basis for a new trial.
Specifically, the plaintiff finds fault in (1the jury ®lection and compositigii2) certain
evidentiary rulingsnadeduring trial; and (3) certain instructions provided to the juBge
generallyPl.’s Mem According to the plaintiff, each ajed errorbothon its ownand taken
togethey subvertedhe plantiff's substantial rights and warrants a new tridkeePl.’s Mem. at
1-2. As discussed below, none of the grounds urged by the plaintiff wauasetting thevell-
foundedjury verdict in this case. Each allegation of error will be addresseatimbelow.

A. Jury Selection and Composition

The plaintiff objects to both the jury selection process and theguest refusal to strike
a member of th@ury mid-trial. Neither objection withstands scrutiny.

1 Jury Selection Process

To ensurgury impartiality, at the parties’ suggestiodyring voir dire, the Court asked
everypotential juror whether they possessed “any view” on “whethesiadss partnership
must be in writing in order to be legally binding and enforcedachment B, Final Ptaal
Order, 1 18, ECF No. 146ee alsdarties Agreed Propos&ftbir Dire 13, ECF No. 113.
Unsurprisingly, many jurorexpressed a view that a partnership or other business arrangement
requiredawriting. The plaintiffcomplains that the Court shduhave struck for causey juror
who expressednindication duringvoir dire that for “a contract to be enforaele[, it] should be
in writing.” SeePl.’s Mem. at 13.The plaintiff also accuses the Court of attempting to

“supplant the jury’s view withhat of its own” bynoting to ounsel(outsidethe presencef any
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prospective jurors)after hearing anculing on the plaintiff ssecondmotion to strike for cause
one ofthe first fourprospectivgurors thatthe “professional, educated, [ar&jphisticated jurors
[of] the District of Columba” would likely express theiew that a contract should be in writing
Pl’s Mem. at 1314.

Perhaps due to his argument’s infirmity, the plaintiff's repljsfto addresany
arguments raised in the datiant’s opposition or makanyreference to this allegegtounds for
anew trial SeePl.’'s Reply Def.’s Opp. Pl.’s Mot. New Trial, ECF No. 10®l.’s Reply”). As
a result, the plaintiff has abandoned this arguraadtthe Court need not consider$eCitr.
for Food Safety v. Salaza&898 F. Supp. 2d 13@52n.2(D.D.C. 2012) (“The Court, however,
need not address [Plaintiff's] argument [because] Plain#égply appears to abandon the first
challenge . . . .")United States v. Lock&lo. 09CR-0259, 2012 WL 1154084, atl®D.D.C.

Apr. 9, 2012); (“Locke’s reply abandons any reference to § 3572(d)(3) ansl oefg to §

3664(k). Accordingly, the Court will consider Locke's request with respedtedatter

provision only.”) cf. Ass’n of Am. Plgicians & Surgeons v. Sebelit@6 F.3d 468, 471 (D.C.

Cir. 2014)cert. denied sub nom. Ass'n of Am. Physicians & Surgeons, Inc. v. Bul&ed. Ct.
1024 (2015)noting the “standard rule inferring concession from gaps iniatifa opposition”

to uphold district court’s acceptance of argument as conceded when plaiheidf o respond to
the argument)In any eventas explained below, the jury selection process was proper and the
plaintiff is not entitled to a new trian this ground

“The Sypreme Court has stressed repeatedly that the touchstone of the guarantee of an
impartial jury is a protection against juror biasJhited States v. Bong977 F.2d 624, 633

(D.C. Cir. 1992)'® see also United States v. Orenuga0 F.3d 1158, 11683 (D.C.Cir. 2005)

8 While manyof the casesn this Circuit addressingheimpartiality or thejury arecriminal casesthe same
principlesapplyin the contextof civil cases.
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(discussing “right to be tried by jurors who are capable of putSitgdheir personal
impressions and opinions and rendering a verdict based solely ondbaavpresented in
court.”). “Voir dire. . . serves to screen out jurors whosesgeal views make them incapable of
performing this function.”"Orenuga 430 F.3d at 1162ee also McDonough Powet64 U.S. at
554 (*Voir dire examination serves to protect that right by exposing possiéxediboth known
and unknown, on the part offemtial jurors.”) A determination of juror bias “essentially one
of credibility, and therefore largely one of demeand?dtton v. Yount467 U.S. 1025, 1038
(1984). “As with any . . . trial situation where an adversary wishes to dgaujuror because of
bias, . . . it is the adversary seeking exclusion who must demenstragh questioning, that
the potential juror lacks impartiality.Wainwright v. Witt469U.S. 412, 423 (1985xiting
Reynolds v. United State38 U.S. 145, 157 (187Q)

The plaintiff relies solely upon a singk@nbinding case as hauthority in support of his
challengeo the jury selection proceddlachesney v. Larry Bruni, M.D., P,R05 F. Supp. 1122
(D.D.C. 1995).SeePl.’s Mem. at 1314. Yet, Machesnegtands for the wholly unremarkable
proposition that in assessing a motion for a new trial, a courtdshoti“supplant the jury’s view
with that of its own unless the verdict repents a miscarriage of justiced05 F. Supp. at 103
Consequently, this case in fact undercuts the plaintiff's posttiat the juryecisionhere
should be supplanted’he case does not addressube dire issue raised by the plaintiff in any
respectand is inapposite.

The failure by the plaintiff to cite any caselaw in support ofhiagion is unsurprising.
Throughoutvoir dire, the Court took great pains to ensure that potentiatgicould render a fair
decision based on the evidence presented and the law as provided to therCouyrt. Thus,

where a juror expressed a preference for an agreement to be in writinguthepgeaiically
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asked therospectivguror whethethe or shavould be able to follow the law as instructed and
further,gave the plaintiff the opportunitp propose questions for the Court to ask the
prospectivguror. See, e.g.May 11, 2015 AM Tr. at 4811, 44-46, ECF No. 18Zdenying
motion to strike Prospective Juror No.\bliere prospective juror stated tHaé¢ would follow
[the Court’s] instruction . . . not once, but at least twice .); id’at 4854 (denying motion to
strike Prospective Juror No. 490 where prospective juror statechitnatduld have no difficulty
applying the instructions and thevahat [the Court would] give him . . . [and] based on his
forthright answers to [the Court’s] questions and his demeanor anghtifidoess . . . .”)id. at
57-62(denying motion to strike Prospective Juror No. 1281 e/peospective juror was “an
enormausly conscientious person, clearly based on her demeanor and theelyanswered
[the Court’s] questions, saying that she can fairly apply the Iggian] to her and base her
decision on the evidence presented and that Jaid."at 11114 (denyingmotion to strike
Prospective Juror No. 90 where the prospective juror “seems vényidbt, very honesgf . . . .
[has] a military bearing and a military background, and . . . says helam [the Court’s]
instructions on the law)” Notably, where a prospective juror expessgesitation about his or
her ability to follow the Court’s instructions regarding whetheusiress partnership needed to
be in writing,the Court removed the juror for causgee idat 72-73 (striking Prospective Juror
949for cause because “he did express some hesitation and about whether or n@it peta@ut
of his mind his strong views about a written contract in applying thad[the Court]
instruct[s] in this case.”).

Sensitive to the fact that the plaintiff's trg involved an orabr impliedpartnershipthe
Court inquired of prospective jurors their views onnked fora writing in forming a business

relationship. Where prospective jurors expressed a view, the Courethgfitheir ability to
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follow the lav as instructed and affordéae plaintiff the opportunity to pose questions to the
prospective juror through the Court. After assessing the anstwtrs questions, along with the
demeanor and expression of the potential jurors, the Court nuldee owtions to strike. Where
jurors’ answers and demeanors indicated their willingness ality &bifollow legal instructions,
the motion to strike was denied. Where a juror’'s answer indicated dearittisor herability to
follow the Court’s legal instretions, the motion to strike was granted. The Court committed no
error in denying the plaintiff's motions to strik&eeUnited States v. Littlejoh89 F.3d 1335,
1342 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (“[E]mpaneling a jury able to view the evidence dispassigmand
follow the law requires the district court to examine sources of paldis and evaluate the
credibility of answers given by prospective jurors.”).

2. The Jury Foreman

The plaintiff also faults the Court for refusing to strikeor 135&fterthis juror raised
the possibilityduring trialof his potentiafamiliarity with a defense witness, Paul Woodhatid
for not allowing the plaintiffé further question the juror regarding potential grounds for
dismissal® SeePl.’s Mem. at 1415.

During voir dire, both parties read to the venire panel a list of witnegselsdingthe
name ofMr. Woodhull,andthe prospective juromsere asked whier they knew any of the
witnesses for either partyseeMay 11, 2015 AM Tr. at 21. Juror 1358 did not indicate that he
had any knowledge of, or a prior relationstiph, Mr. Woodhull. After thejury was
empaneledthe Court instructed the jurors teedlthe Court should they recognize any withess
whose name had been reslden that witness appeared in person to tesBgeMay 11, 2015

PM Tr. at 25.

19 Thejuror wassubsequentlghoserto beforeman.
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During thedefense casafter the testimony of Mr. Woodhudh thefourth day of trial
Juror 135&otified the Court that he might have familiarity with Mr. Woodhi8eeMay 14,
2015AM Tr. at 136-31. The Court pauseithe trialand proceeded teoir dire the juror
individually outside the presence of other jurors to determine whie¢heinould bexeused for
cause.ld. The Court questioned the juror regarding the natuhesgiotential relationshigvith
the witnessand whether it wouldffecthis ability to render an impartial verdictd. The juror
explained that he resides in the same neigidmd aghe business address identifiedNix
Woodhullduringthe witness’ directestimony and that he was aware of an individuakhoy
name of Paul Woodhwvho has six children, some of whom may have played with the juror’s
own children. Id. The pror had‘never met” Mr. Woodhull, however, and hadver spoke to
Mr. Woodhull Id. The juror thought that Mr. Woodhull may have owned a restautaspite
no suggestion during Mr. Woodhull's testimony that he owned a restaldanT he juror
unequivocally expressed that there was nothing about his potantidibfity with Mr.
Woodhull that wouldaffecthis ability to evaluate Mr. Woodhull's testimony in the same manne
as any other witnesdd. Despite thguror’s clear statema that his minimband potential
familiarity with Mr. Woodhullwould have neeffecton his ability to render a fair and impartial
verdict, e plaintiffargues that it is “quite possible” that the juror might have beeedss a
result of “his acquaintae or even relationship” with Mr. Woodhull atigtthe plaintiff should
have been permitted to further question the juegarding the relationshipPl.’s Mem. at 14.

Both the Court’ssoir dire and the subsequent refusal to strike the juror weresprop
Where a juror indicates a potential basis for challengetnait] the Courtshouldvoir dire the
juror to ensure the impartiality of the jurfgee United States v. We$58 F.3d 1,8 (D.C. Cir.

2006) (approving of trial court’s use wdir dire after two jurors revealedonnections to
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government witnesses)n the present casegir dire revealed thathe jurorin question hd

“never met” Mr. Woodhullpever spokéo Mr. Woodhull, and averred that his familiarity (if
any) with Mr. Woodhull would not impact his “ability to give his testny and evaluate his
testimony in the same way” as any other witness. MagQ#5AM Tr. at 130-31. Indeed the
juror was unsue whether he wasvenreferring tothe Paul Woodhull testifying in court or
another Paul Woodhutf Based on the juror's demeanor arbwers to the Court’s question, it
was clear the juror wdgsapable of rendering a verdict based solely on the evigeasented in
court.” Orenuga 430 F.3d 1158, 11683. Given the juror’s responses to the questions posed
by the Court, no further questiongre needed tensurethe juror’'simpartiality.

The plaintiff's argumentthat he should have been permittedutdher question the juror
regarding any potential biasonflicts with theactualrecordfrom thevoir dire. The plaintiff
requested that théourt ask whether Mr. Woodhull was “a neighbor” of the juror, éf jror
“lives on Capitol Hill,” “would he think the testimony more or I¢s&] and if he would render a
verdict?” SeeMay 14, 2015 AM Tr. at 13Xee alsd’l.’s Mem. at 14.Yet, when the questions
were proffered by the plaintiff, the juror had already indicated thalie[s] on Capitol Hilf
and that he had never met Mr. WoodhileeMay 14, 2015 AM Tr. at 13681. Moreover, the
Court accepted the plaintiff's suggestion and specifically inqwideether he would give Mr.
Woodhull's testimonydditionalweight because of tirgpotentialrelationship. 1d.

In order to ensure impartialityhé Courtconducedvoir dire of the juror,permitted the

plaintiff to propose potentiafoir dire questionsandasked the juror a version of the quession

20 Althoughtheplaintiff claims“on informationandbelief’ thatMr. Woodhullresidesin theneighborhood
identified by thejuror andalsoownsarestaurantseePl.’s Replyat 2, the plaintiff's familiarity with theactual
residencesf defensavitnesseiasprovento be questionablat best. SeeMay 14, 2015AM Tr. at 134 (plaintiff's
counselapologizingto jury for falselyaccusingdefensewitnessAllan Horlick, the Presidenbf WUSA Channel 9n
WashingtorD.C., of failing to replyto subpoenavhereplaintiffs counselsentthe subpoenao theaddresof a
different“Allan Horlick”).
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proffered by the plaintiff. SeeMay 14, 2015AM Tr. at 132. No more was necessary to ensure a
fair trial. The plaintiff's attempt to obtain a new trial on this basis rset:

B. Evidentiary Rulings

The plaintiffalsochallengeseverakvidentiary rulingslong with the defendaist
opening ancatlosing statements. Specifically, the plaintiff challeng&sthetestimonyas a
defense witness of Jeffrey Landa) defense counselallegeduse of “Golden Rule”
invocationsduringhis opening statemen&nd(3) defense counselieference tdindentured
servitude”during his closing statemengeePl.’s Mem. at £2. Although evidentiary issueand
improper argumentan be a proper basis for an award of a new trial, as previously noteel, “[t]h
standard for granting a new trial is not whether maodentiary errors were made but rather
whether there was a clear miscarriage of justié@ice 818 F. Supp. 2d at 60.

At the outset, the plaintiff's reply fails to addressltiple arguments raised in the
defendans opposition. Specifically, the jpaiff's reply does not responid any way to the
defendant’s arguments regardimgp of thealleged errors proffered as a basis for new: fi3lthe
testimony of Jeffrey Landa@nd(2) the defendant’s alleged use of a “Golden Rule” argument during
opening SeePl.’s Reply. As discussed aboyby failing to respond to the defendant’s opposing
arguments in his replyhe plaintiff hasabandonedhesearguments.SeeCtr. for Food Safety v.
Salazay 898F. Supp. 2d 130, 1522 (D.D.C. 2012) United States v. Locké&lo. 09CR-0259,
2012 WL 1154084, at *1 (D.D.C. Apr. 9, 2012j. Ass’'n of Am. Physicians & Surgeons v.
Sebelius746 F.3d 468, 471 (D.C. Cir. 2014 ven absent this concession, howeved, @&n
discussed below, the plaintiff canrdgmonstrat@ “clear miscarriage of justit@egarding any

of the alleged grounds of error.

27



1 Testimony of Jeffrey Landa

Jeffrey Landa served as the defendant’s personal attorney duriegetiits giving rise to
this litigation. During trial, he was callemsa witness by both the plaintiff and the defendant.
SeeMay 12, 2015 AM Tr. at 114; May4, 2015AM Tr. at 202 In histestimony,Mr. Landa
described his firshand recollections of the negotiations betwdenparties anthetiming and
substance of the parties’ discussions about a business arrang&meviy 12, 2015 AM Tr. at
118 During direct examinan by the defese counsel, Mr. Landa was asked whether, as of
March 2008,'when all of this takesl@ce, suggestion of exclusive representation, suggestion of
agency, suggestion of partnership, suggestion of corporation, was aesnagteinder any of
those formats reachéd@ndMr. Landa answered “No.May 15, 2015 AM Tr. at H12;see
alsoMay 14, 2015 PM Tr. at 280, ECF No. 1894"Q: Was any agreement in place between
Mr. Queen and Mr. Schultz as of May"22008?A: No. Q: Partnership, contract, agency,
anything? A: Nothing.”).

In the present motionhé plaintiff repeats his arguments from trial that Mr. Landa
“offer[ed] opinions to the jury on contract and partnership lavd’ @nat the plaintiff should have
been permitted to “cross examine the witness [on] the basis of hisrgpinPl.’s Mem. at 13.
Specifically, the plaintiff attempted to ask Mr. Landa ilvére“possible for the defendant and
the plaintiff to have a verbal partnership,” and, following a sustabgettion,profferedthat he
would ask Mr. Landa “if there could be a verbal partnership [and] if thedd bewan implied
partnership.” May 15, 2015 AM Tr. 20-21. In support of his motion, the plaintiff notes that
during his crosexamination by the plaintiff, Mr. Landa agreed that he “rendered nuserou
opinions to this jury that ...no partnership agreement [existédd thereby opened the door to

the questioning proposed by the plaintiffl.'s Mem.at 12 (citing May 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 19)
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The difficulty for the plaintiff is that Mr. Landa testified dogi direct examinatioasa
fact witnesgegardingthefacts in disputeDid the parties enter into an agreement during a
specific month?SeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at H12. It is well-established that attorneys may
testify as fact witnesses regarding their personal knowledtie @vents in questiorbee, e.q.
Tardiff v. Geico Indem. Cp481 F. App’x 584, 587 (11th Cir. 2012) (affirming trial court’s
ruling regarding attorney testimony because attorney “testifieglcasvitness[] and confined
[his] testimony to statementsd®d on [his] own experiences and personal knowledB&iney
v. Dist. 141, Int'l Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workav8 F.3d 269, 282 (2d Cir. 2004)
(denying motion for new trial where trial court permitted attgnee“testify merely to facts of
which he had personal knowledgeUnited States v. LawspA91 F.2d 806 (10th Cir. 1993s
amended on denial of reh(gune 2, 1993) (upholding trial court’s permission of attorney to
testify “as a fact witness, not an expert,” while denying defendantesedpr expert testimony
from attorney).Mr. Landa didnottestify regarding the state of the lawoffer an opinion
regarding whether theelationship between the plaintiff and the defendant mdets
requirements foa partnership.See Burkhart v. Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth2 F.3d
1207, 1213 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (holding that witness “may not testify ashasher the lgal
standard has been satisfied”). Rather, Mr. Landa testified regardiaegisbence of dact
Based on his involvement in the negotiatiahid, the two parties rea@n agreemerds of a
certain date

Although the plaintiff complains that he wasable to cross examine Mr. Landa
regarding the basis for his testimony, the plaintiffis@sm reveals only a lack of ¢gl
imagination, not aimitation imposed by the CourThe plaintiff could have crossxamined Mr.

Landa abouthe foundationfor his testimonythat the parties never entered into an agreement
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inquiring, for examplewhetherMr. Landawas privy to allof the commauications between the
two sideswhetherthe defendantonsulted witiMr. Landaregarding all of 18 business
transactionsandwhy Mr. Landa offered legal services to the defendagarding dusiness
agreementvhen Mr.Landa focused on engtment law Instead, the plaintiff sought to have
Mr. Landa testify regarding tHegalrequirements for a partnerstapd tospeculate about the
possible application of that law to the parties’ dealifgeeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 221
(“[W]ould you agree that it is possible for the defendant and thetiiao have a verbal
partnership?”) Such questioningmpermissiblyinvades the province of the Court ahe jury.
See Burkhart v. Washington Metro. Area Transit Auth2 F.3d 1207, 1213 (D.C. Cir. 1997)
(*Each courtroom comes equipp&ih a ‘legal expert,talled a judge, and it is his or her
province alone to instruct the jury on the relevant legal standard$ie plaintiff's cross
examination of Mr. Landa was appropriately limited and does not wanagw trial.
2. Opening Statements

The plaintiff seeks a new triatemming from the defele counsét opening statements
whichreferred toprior rulings by this Courolding thatthe plaintiff was not the defendant’s
agent and that the plaintiff did not enter into a contract with the defen8aePl.’'s Mem. at 16
(citing May 11, 2015 PM Tr. at 41)r'he plaintiff did not seek to exclude references to any prior
court opinions irhis motionsin limine, nor did theplaintiff objecteitherduring orfollowing the
defendant’pening statementDespite these omissiorthe plaintiff now seeks a new trial
claiming that the defendant made an impermissible “Golden Rudgiment durindnis opening
statement Id. The plaintiff's argument is without merit and evinces a profound

misunderstanding of “Golden Rule” arguments.

30



A golden rule argument “asks ‘jurors to place themselves in thgoosf a party.”
Caudle v. District ofColumbig 707 F.3d 354359 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (quotingns. Co. of N. Am. v.
U.S. Gypsum Cp870 F.2d 148, 154 (4th Cir. 1989)). Courts forbid appeals to the “golden rule”
in order “to prevent the jury from deciding a case based on inapgt@ponsidetaons such as
emotion.” Id. at 360. “The jury may not return a verdict based on personal interespias
prejudice and an argument asking it to do so is improgdr.at 359. A golden rule argument
permits “the jury to depart from neutrality and ttecide the case on the basis of personal
interest and bias rather than on evidenc&d” (quotingGranfield v. CSX Transp., In&97 F.3d
474, 491 (1st Cir. 2010)). Where a party makes repeated appeals to the uotiosal
sympathies, the error ieightened and may warrant a new trial even where the court has
provided curative instructionsSee Caudle707 F.3d at 361 (noting that a single argument
“alone, might not be grounds for reversal’ but that reversal veasawted when the party made
“three objections to golden rule arguments” and a send a message argument)

In the present case, the defendant made no argument even resembdildga rgle”
argument, nor has the plaintiff proffered any explanation as to hodefeadant’s statements
tha the Court previously rejected the plaintiff’'s agency and contraotigs ‘asks jurors to
place themselves in the position of a part€audle 707 F.3cat 352 To be sure, defense
counsel’s invocation of pricCourtrulingsin his opening statementight be thoughto cloak
the opening statementith the Court’'simprimatur. Nonethelesshe plaintiff failed to object on
that ground at trial, and fails to object on that groundisimotion foranew trial. The

plaintiff's request for a new trial amis ground is denied.
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3. Summation

During summation, the defendant argeedhe jurythat the plaintiff's theory of the case
amounted to a form of “indentured servitude,” whereby a ten minute catizer in the hallway
of a production studio led to an ongoing obligation to pay the plampfrtionof his
subsequent earnings for anietasion show for the remainder of the defendant’s professional
life. SeeMay 18, 2015 AM Tr. at 50, 70, ECF No. 18As the plaintiff notes, he did not object
on the record during or following the defendargummation, and raises the issue for thé firs
time in his motion for a new trigd* SeePl.’s Reply at 5.As a resultandas discussed
previously, to obtain aew trial “on grounds not called to the court’s attention during thke tr
. the erroffmust be]so fundamental that gross injusticeuldresult.” SeeWright & Miller,
supra 8§ 2805 at 73 Wilson v. PorrecpNo. 11-CV-1113 2013 WL 2250048at *2 (D.D.C.
May 22, 2013 (Wilkins, J.)(sam@. In bringing his motion e plaintiffapparentifaults the
Court for notsua sponténterruptingdefense counsel in the midst of closing argument to
condemn his argument and instruct the jargisregard his statementSeePl.’s Reply at 5.
The D.C. Circuit has cautioned, however, that “a trial judge shailahterrupt every argumén
which he thinks undesirable Harris v. United States102 F.2d 656, 657 n.1 (D.C. Cir. 1968)
(Burger,J.).

Closing argument affords counsel the opportunity to present the jryheir theory of
the case, to reviewvidenceand draw inferencedJnited States v. Moor&51 F.3d 30, 52
(D.C. Cir. 2011)aff'd in part sub nom. Smith v. United State33 S. Ct. 714 (2013)The sole

purpose of closing argument is to assist the jury in analyzingvidence . . . .”).As discussed,

21 Althoughtheplaintiff repeatedlynvokesboththe 13" Amendmentnd“involuntary servitude”in his motion for
anewtrial, seePl.’s Replyat 5, thedefendanteferredto neitherduring hisclosingargument.
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during argument,aunsel may not impropersk the jury to return a verdict on the basis of
“personal interest, bias or prejuditeSee Caudler07 F.3dat 359-60.

The plaintff argues that not only did defense counsel cross a line but defendasit's)c
argument'denied Plaintiff substantial rights to a fair and impartial vertli®l.’s Reply at 6.
The plaintiff doth protest too much. The defendant employed two lagsing references to
indentured servitude in order to highlight the absurdity of tamiifif's theory that a single brief
hallway introductioncouldresult inan operended business partnership entitling the plaintiff to
the proceeds of any future television show starring the defenlaatcomments were not
intended, nor did they have the effef, improperly inflaming the passion of the jury. Instead,
the defendandrewa provocative inference from the evidence and theories presenteel by t
plaintiff to showcase theeakness ithe plaintiff's claim

Furthermore, even if the defendant'gaments were prejudiciahé plaintiff's
contentiorthat the statement was sufficiently extreme as to warrant a nefinaslittle
support in ts Circuit’'scase law. Indeed, the D.C. Circtefused to ordea newcriminaltrial
where the prosecutor’'s summation made comparigetvgeerthe defendant anéidolf Hitler.
SeeUnited States v. dith, 910 F.2d 843, 895 (D.C. Cit990 opinion withdrawn and
superseded in part on reh'g20 F.2d 940 (D.C. Cir. 199()To suspect that the reference to
Hitler swayed the jury on a close and critical issue would underestimatentineocosense that
we properly attribute to the jury.”)ln North, the Circuit noted thahe defendant suffered little
prejudice because he was able to make ang#eof the hyperbolistatement during his own
closing. Id. In the present casthe plaintiff specifically targeted defense counsedference to
indentured servitudm orderto makeit a theme of hi®wn closing referring toindentured

servitude three separate timeeMay 18, 2015 AM Tr. af1,75, 78, 79. In fact, the plaintiff
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escalatedhe rhetoricjnvoking not only indentured servitude but alé® 13' Amendmentsee
id. at 71 ({F]or the defendant, it means they've repealed tHeA®endment . . .”), and
slavery,see idat71 (‘{W]e're back to slavery.).

Thedefense counseligference tandenturedservitudewas a reasonablealbeit
provocative—inference drawn from the plaintiff's own theory of the case and doesarcant a
new trial.

C. Jury Instructions

Finally, the plaintiff finds fault with certain instructismprovided to the jury. The
plaintiff faults the Cour{1) for failing to use the plaintiff's suggested languayés instruction
regardingpartnership formation; (Zpr providing an instruon regardingdissociationand
(3) for providing a curative instruction regarding the defendant’s allelgstruction of evidence
Each of plaintiff's alleged errors is addressed below.

1. Partnership Formation

The plaintiff objects to the precise language used in the instnueigarding the
formation of a partnershipSeePl.’s Mem. at 46. “Jury instructions are proper if, when viewed
as a whole, they fairly present the applicable legal principléstamérds.” Czekalski v.
LaHood 589 F.3d 449, 453 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks and citationgamitt
see also Ponce v. Billingtp679 F.3d 840, 846 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (upholding jury instruction
because it “fairly and adequately conveyed thettathe jury”). “[A]s long as a district judge’s
instructions are legally correct . . . he is not required to give themy particular languagdé.
Joy v. Bell Helicopter Textron, In®@99 F.2d 549, 556 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (quotMdler v.

Poretsky 595 F.2d 780, 788 (D.Cir. 1978)). Ultimately “[i]t is sufficient if the substance of
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the instruction as given be correct in law, adapted to the issudepkxvat trial and adequate
for guidance of the jury.™Heflin v. Silverstein405 F.2d 1075, 107(D.C. Cir. 1968).

The plaintiff obgcts that the jury instruction regarding partnership formatidmot
simply recite the exact language of the D.C. Code, but instead sougkesent the applicable
legal principles in a manner susceptible to lagarstanding.SeePl.’s Mem. at 4.Specifically,
the D.C. Code provides that “the association of 2 or more personsy@oas ceowners of a
business for profit shall form a partnership, whether or nopéingons intend to form a
partnership.” D.CCode 8§ 29602.02. The plaintiff objects to thgiry instructions’exclusion of
the phrase “whether or not the persons intend to form a partner§epPl.’'s Mem. at 4.As
interpreted by the D.C. Court of Appedisweverthe question of partnershipriation
“ultimately is an objective onavhether the partieitendedo do the acts that in law constitute
partnership.”Brown v. 1401 New York Ave., In25 A.3d 912, 914 (D.C. 2011) (quotatipns
citations,and alterations omitted and emphasis addsalsoBeckman v. Farmeb79 A.2d
618, 627 (D.C. 1990) (“[F]or a partnership to arise in law, two or more ersasintendto
associate together to carry on asoemers for profit.” (emphasis added)} hus, the parties must
have intended to do¢hacts constituting a partnershiege id, but need not have tlseibjective
intent to create a partnershggeD.C. Code §2902.02. Such anuanced distinction does not
easily lend itself to a jury instruction.

To capture the plaintiff's concern regarding the statutory language thatnanship may
be formed “whether or not the persons intend to form a partnershgCourtexplained in its
instruction “Whether a partnership exists under District of Columbia law is not deexray
whether a paythas the subjective belief that he is a partner or is in a partner&§epJury
Instructions at 6, ECF No. 172. The instruction clarified the essence oftiiterstéanguage-that

the parties’subjective intent does not control whether they formed a partnerstipe-staying
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consistent with governing D.C. case law regarding the requirement that the jpéetiel to perform
the acts constituting a partnershipdeed the instruction is entirely consistent with the request made
by the plaintiff in h motion for a new trialSeePl.’s Mem. at 4 (objecting toiry instruction on the
grounds that the “parties can perform those acts that satisfy the tdeoharpartnership, whether or
not they intend to characterize those acts as a pariméjsh

Although the plaintiff requested that the jury instructions includeipé&anguage from the
D.C. Code, the jury instructions used alternative language to refldegdeequirements for
partnership formation. The Court is not required to aswg ‘farticular languagewhen providing
instructions Joy, 999 F.2dat 556, and the instructions the present caséwhen viewed as a
whole,. . .fairly present the applicablegal principles and standartd§;zekalski589 F.3dat
453. The plaintiff is notentitled to a new trial on this ground.

2. Dissociation Instruction

Prior to trial, the defendant requested a jury instruction reggdissociation taddress
the fact thavariousindividualspotentialy entered and exited the alleged partnersfipeDef.’s
Proposed Jury Instructions, ECF Nd9-2 The plaintiff objectedo the inclusiorof a
dissociationury instructionat trial, and reiterates his objection in his motion for a trek
claiming that the defendant failed to plead dissociatidns answer SeePl.’s Mem. at 611.
The irony ofthe plaintiff's argumenis not lost on the Court, sinceggpite proceeding to trjal
the plaintiff never pled a partnership claiiee Complf[f 79-83 (Breach of Contractid. 11
84-89 (Breach of Impé&d-in-Fact Contract)id. 1 9693 (Fraud in the Indwment);id. 71 94-
98 (Tortious Interference with Business Relationshipis)ff 99-103 (Intentional Infliction of
Emotional Distress)ysee alsdMinute Order, dateffebruary 27, 2015 (denying tp&intff leave
to amenchis complainto add a partnership theory on the eve of trial becatigkintiff's

“undue delay” andhe resultantundue prejudice to the defendant’As a result, even were the
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defendant required to plead dissociation, the deferwtaid not have pled dissociatiam this
case becausepartnershipvas neveallegedin the plaintiff's complaint The plaintiffmaynot
now allege that hevas prejudiced by his own shifting theories anduakassertionand should
notreceive a new trial becausesafchobfuscation. @ reward the plaintifivith a new trialfor
such behavior would be a miscarriage of justice.

The plaintiff also argues that the jury should have been insttubat the defendant bore
the burden to pravdissociation by a preponderance of the evidence. The plaintiffaissd
this position in a midnight filing on the eve of the charging contee8eeNotice of Filing of
Memorandum of Supplemental Authority in Support of Plaintiff s&ebipns ReAffirmative
Defenses and Burden of Proof Directed at Dissociation, ECF No. 1 HhtHrhis original filing
and in his present motion, the plaintiff cites no casedapattern instructionshere a Court
required the dfendant tdoear the burden in shomg dissociation Most importantly, however,
the plaintiff does not explain how the allegador prgudiced his clainwhatsoever The jury
found for the defendant on tigsue of partnership formation. In other wordig, plaintiff never
met his burdemo show the existence of a partnersheeVerdict Form, ECF Nol178 (“Did the
plaintiff establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he and theathefienched a
partnership? No.”)As a result, lte jurydid not reachihe subsequent issue of whether the
defendant remained a member of the partnership at the time of the &lfeget, because the
jury found that haneverentered into a partnership in the firsstance The evidence at trial
revealed thathis was not a close casbe evidencdor the defendant was overwhelminghus,
any alleged error fronmcluding adissociation instruction-an issue the jury never reachedid
not have a “substantial and injurious effect or influence in detwangithe jury’s verdict.”

Caudle 707 F.3d at 361.
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3. Destruction of Evidence

The plaintiff also challenges an instruction provided to theatithe close of summation
regarding comments made by plaintiff's couredebutthe allegeddestruction of evidendey the
defendant As with many of the arguments the plaintiff initially advanced inpgupof his
motion for a new trial, the plaintiff's reply completely abandtims theory of error.SeeCitr. for
Food Safety v. Salaza898 F. Supp. 2d 130, 1522 (D.D.C. 2012)United Sates v. LockeNo.
09-CR-0259, 2012 WL 1154084, at *1 (D.D.C. Apr. 9, 201d) Ass’n of Am. Physicians &
Surgeons v. Sebeliug46 F.3d 468, 471 (D.C. Cir. 2014tven were this argument not
abandonedhowever, it is unavailing.

Prior to trial, both tk plaintiff and the defendantquestedanctions based on the alleged
destruction of evidenceSeeDef.’s Mot. Sanctions & Award Att'ys Fees, ECF No. 92; Pl.’s
Mot. Sanctions & Award Att'ys Fees, ECF No. 104. The plaintiffgda sanctions because of
the defendant’s practice, prior to April 2009, of deleting his personalenféllowing
testimony at the pretrial conference, the Court denied gties’ motions. SeeMinute Order,
dated May 1, 2015. The Court ruled that the defendant was not oa abgotential litigation
until April 2009 at the earliest, at which point the defendant retdiseemails. Since the
defendant did not improperly destroy emails prior to April 2009, no $poliaccurred, and the
imposition of sanctions wagswarraned. SeePretrial Conference Rough Hearing Tr. at-48@®

Subsequently, during trial, the plaintiff solicited testimomnirthe defendant regarding
his production of emailduring discovery SeeMay 11, 2015 PM Tr. at 65. The plaintiff also
made passing reference to the defendant’s erasure of e®adsd(“Mr. Schultz | have not
produced any emails. Q: Because you erased them? A:1did.”). Atthe fcloak the

plaintiff requested a jury instruction regarding spoliation, eliengh the Court previously
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found no spoliation. The plaintiff's request was denigdeMay 15, 2015 AM Tr. at 128722
Thus, at the time of closing arguments, the Court had rejected thifféaiheory of spoliation
in pretrial motions and denied the plaintiff's request for a jury insionclvith respect to
spoliation.

Nonetheless, during summation, the plaintiff argued to thetatythey should find the
plaintiff credible because he “produced 1,200 emails,” while the defeérshould be foundot
credible because, as to the defendant, “the emails were er&ssMay 18, 2015 AM Tr. at 73.
At the close of summation, the defendant objected to the plamtifaracterization and argued
that the reference to the erasure of emails was “directly contraryet@tart’s] pretrial order.”
Id. at 91. The defendant reggted an instruction for the jury to disregard that portion of the
closing. Id. at 9192. At the bench conference, the plaintiff argued only that Mr. Landa testified
that the defendant did not produce any emails as part of the ditigddi. The Courtspecifically
asked the plaintiff if evidence existed in the record that the def¢rdased emaildd. The
plaintiff noted only that he asked the defendant if he produced emmadsommented that the
Court was “right” that he did not ask the defemidi@garding the deletion of emailSeed.

(“The Court You didn't talk to him about erasing email§Rlaintiff's Counsel] Yes, well,
you're right.”). At the defendant’s suggestion, and withouédipn by the plaintiff, the Court
briefly instructel the jury that during the plaintiff's “rebuttal summation, [yourde@ference

to] the erasure of emails [by] Mr. Schultz. You are to disregard thare’s no evidence in the
record about that.'ld. at 92. Following this brief aside, the Court preded to read tHenal

jury instructions.

22 Theplaintiff's motion doesnot arguethatthe Court’srefusalto provideaspoliationinstructionwaserror.
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The plaintiff now argues that this brief jury instructtiemade without objection by the
plaintiff—warrants a new trialSeePl.’'s Mem. at 1516. A new trial is not warranted on this
basis. Prior to triathe Court heard testimony and explicitly found that the defendamtodid
purposefully destroy evidence. Despite this clear ruling, the pfai@s intent on leaving the
jury with the (mistaken) impression that the defendant purpogefeditroyed evidence order
to hide the truth.SeeMay 18, 2015 AM Tr. at 81 (“So when he tells you there’s no evidence,
I’'m telling you that there is.”). Moreover, because the plaifitét raised the issue during his
rebuttal closing, the defendant was left with no nsgancounter the rejected inference that the
defendant wrongfully failed to produeed spoliate@vidence. Thus, the Court instructed the
jury to disregard the plaintiff's comments regarding the destrucfienidence?® Although
counsel is free to draveasonable inferences from the evidence, counsel is not perroideai
inferences explicitly rejected by the Court previously. A new trilineit be granted on this

basis.

A jury verdict should not be disturbed lightlindeed, a court must be “mindful of the
jury’s special function in our legal system and hesitate tarhsts findings.” Martinez v. Dist.
of Columbia 503 F. Supp. 2d 353, 355 (D.D.C. 2007) (quohiygnan 967 F. Supp. at 1569)
In the present case, the jury’s verdict accords with the only reasonafaetdtion of the
evidence The parties never formed a partnership. In the present tasgury fulfilled its
function. It considered conflicting evidence, resolved factual d#spaind returned a verdict.”

Radtke 2015WL 4528494, at *7 The Court will not upset the jury verdict in this case.

23 To besure theplaintiff did askthe defendant singleoff-handquestiorregardingthe deletionof emails,but the
themewasnot developediuringthe courseof trial andtherewasno jury instructionregardinghetopic. Moreover,
giventheoverwhelmingevidenceagainsthe plaintiff's partnershigheory,anyerrorin thisrespecwasharmless.

40



V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the plaintiff's motion for a new isidenied. An appropriate

Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.
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